I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is the interested employer, Puget Sound Security Patrol, Inc. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The attached Court of Appeals decision was filed on December 22, 

2014, and set for publication by the attached order dated February 2, 2015. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Should the Supreme Court revisit the Nelson test as to whether off

duty misconduct is work-related when the statute interpreted has been 

amended, a newly enacted statute changes the definition of misconduct, 

the agency entrusted with effectuating the statutory program has both 

promulgated a new regulation effectuating the statutes and has issued a 

precedential decision in an analogous case, and technology provides new 

context for the application of the standard to social media? 

2. When, if ever, can an employer demonstrate that its work rules or 

expectations as to off-duty misconduct are reasonable and work-related 

such that violating them is in substantial disregard of the employer's 

interests? 

3. Are the standards of a licensed profession, such as statutorily

defined unprofessional conduct, relevant to determining misconduct that 

disqualifies one for unemployment benefits? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
A. The claimant provided security for her client and its guests, 

including law enforcement. 

Sarah Black, who is the claimant in this case, was a security guard. 

Slip Opinion at 1. She guarded the Tacoma Public Utilities building 

(TPU). The building held several county government offices, including 

human resources; so county employees, including law enforcement 

officers, visited the building. Guards saw law enforcement at this site. The 

claimant "routinely dealt with a wide range of people in the course of her 

duties, including police officers involved in security issues or simply 

going in and out of the buildings." CR 308 (FOF 12). 

B. Security guards must build relationships with law enforcement. 

Security guards, such as the claimant, routinely interact with law 

enforcement in the general course of their duties. This interaction with law 

enforcement is so central that it is one of the six topics taught to all 

security guards during pre-assignment training, as well as refresher 

training. WAC 308-18-305( e )(iii) (Building relationships with law 

enforcement); see also CR 302-03. The training covers conduct off the 

job. CR 302-03. 

C. The employer's rules governed off-duty civility. 

The employer, Puget Sound Security Patrol, Inc., had workplace rules 

governing security guards' conduct. See e.g., Findings of Fact 9, 10, and 

11 (e.g. requiring courtesy, professionalism, and positive relations with 

law enforcement). One rule prohibited "discourtesy to client 
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representatives" or their visitors, and cautioned that violating work rules 

could result in discharge. CR 215. The claimant received a copy of the 

employer's Ethical Conduct Requirements of All Security Officers at 

TPU, which required her to "practice honesty and good ethics without 

exception on and off the job[.]" CR 208 (emphasis added). Not following 

the rules "at anytime by anyone assigned to TPU properties," will not 

be tolerated. !d. (emphasis in original). She was reminded, "Good ethics 

are what you do when nobody is looking," and not to do something if in 

doubt that it is ethical. !d. The guidelines included the following: 
(3) All words and conduct that is harassing, rude, discourteous, 
discriminatory, negative, uncalled-for, overly aggressive, or 
unprofessional, towards anyone is strictly prohibited at the TPU 
worksites. 

*** 
(11) The sure standard of conduct to follow is not to say or do 
anything that would or could be perceived to violate this Ethical 
Directive, or which doesn't contribute positively to the TPU security 
mission at the particular site you are assigned. [CR 208-09, 307-08 
(FOF 9-10).] 

The claimant signed acknowledging these rules. CR 208-09. Another rule 

required mandatory reporting of anything that impaired her ability to 

perform her duties. CR 308. Other rules touch on the company image and 

business. CR 218. 

The claimant knew the rules required courtesy to law enforcement: 
Q: Being courteous and professional applied not just to the 
client, but that client's guests? 
A: Yeah. 
Q: Some ofTPU's guests included police officers? 
A: Yes. [CR 135] 
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D. The claimant offended her client by disparaging its law 

enforcement guests. 

On February 23, 2012, in a well-publicized tragedy, a Washington 

State Patrol trooper was shot and killed during a traffic stop. CR 278. In 

response, the claimant published the following comment, stating that the 

trooper deserved to be murdered: 
u kno wat, I do not give a fuck about a police officer that got 

shot, if they quit fuckin with ppl, ppl prolly quit shoo tin em all 
the goddamn time ...... karmas a bitch. [CR 306 (FOF 2).] 

The comment was posted on Facebook. CR 306 (FOF 4). 1 The claimant 

made her post while off duty. She had set her privacy levels so that her 

posts were initially accessible to the approximately 1 00 people designated 

as her "friends" on Facebook. 

E. Facebook friends are invited to view the profile and posts. 

One ofthe claimant's Facebook friends was an employee ofTPU. 

CR 306 (FOF 4); CR 135, 148, 153-54, 155. This means the claimant had 

to affirmatively invite (or accept the invitation of) the TPU employee as a 

Facebook friend. 

"Of primary importance" in understanding Face book "is the difference 

between a user's 'profile' (or, in the case of a business or other 

organization, a 'page') and a user's 'news feed."' See Andy Taylor, 

1 Facebook has 890 million daily active users. 
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Facebook (last visited Feb. 13, 2015). 
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Friending and Following: Applying the Rules of Professional Conduct to 

Social Media, 34 U. Ark. Little Rock L. Rev. 551, 554 (2012). "The 

profile is described as the 'complete picture' of a user on Facebook." Id. 

"On the profile, a user has the ability to post status updates, photos, 

videos, and links," id., and her employer and worksite. "The profile is the 

page on Face book that contains all of an individual user's posts." !d. 

F. Facebook posts are republished. 

Facebook posts both reside on a user's timeline (formerly the user's 

"wall") and may be pushed through email or displayed through a smart 

phone application. The claimant's post is akin to sending an email to her 

entire email address book. No reasonable employer would consider one 

hundred emails "private" or assume they went un-forwarded to others. 

Posts and updates may be republished through Facebook when "liked," 

commented on, or reposted. "Status updates and other content from other 

users' profiles appear in a user's news feed," and, "Generally speaking, a 

post from an individual's profile will appear in another user's news feed if 

that user has connected with the individual on Facebook by creating a 

'friend' relationship, generally referred to as 'friending' another user." 

Taylor at 556. It may also post elsewhere if a "friend" of a user interacts 

with a third user. Id. In other words, assume users A and B are connected, 

and users B and C are connected: "If B and C interact in some way 

(perhaps B comments on C's status or shares C's picture on B's own 

profile, or perhaps C writes something on B's profile), then A might see 

that interaction." Id. While security measures have evolved over time, 
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people other than Facebook friends can apparently access Facebook posts, 

and posts may be republished. 

"It was possible for friends to convey to others what had been said in 

the claimant's blog." CR 306 (FOF 4). The claimant's Facebook friend 

who was a TPU employee forwarded the posting as a matter of some 

concern to the TPU Customer Services, who in tum brought it to the 

attention ofPuget Sound Security Patrol. CR 306 (FOF 4); CR 233, 245 

(client forwarding "a statement from Face book, from whom I believe 

works as security at your facility. It is extremely concerning.") 

G. The employer was actually harmed. 

The client was "very concerned that someone with such disregard for" 

life, or "respect for law enforcement officers would be employed here," 

CR 61, and "was horrified that [the employer] had an employee that would 

say things like that about police officers." CR 59-60? Aside from 

violating several, overlapping civility policies and the expectation that she 

would build relationships with law enforcement, the post could have 

triggered the mandatory reporting policy concerning fitness to serve in the 

role of security as the claimant no longer cared if police guests at TPU 

2 In the words of the superior court judge, "I think as a matter of law, 
these remarks are despicable." VRP 5. The court went on to say that the 
remarks "cannot be supported in any reasonable context," and "I find that 
-the remarks horrific," id., and "outrageous." VRP 29. The department 
agrees that the statement was "offensive and despicable." VRP 15. 
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were murdered. The claimant's supervisor was also "shocked, 

embarrassed and- and disgusted." CR 158. Co-workers felt similarly. !d. 

The supervisor testified, "Everybody was shocked, but there were some 

that were more visibly ... disgusted and embarrassed by it." CR 161. 

The administrative agency found the employer was not harmed. On 

appeal, this finding was reversed. The claimant's message did harm her 

employer. This issue is so clear that the department conceded error, and 

the appellate decision agrees it was error and approves of the concession. 

Opinion at 13.3 The Opinion goes on to say that the claimant's "post was 

contrary to [her employer's] interests," id. at 19, yet the decision curiously 

states that the claimant was not acting "in substantial disregard" of the 

employer's interests. !d. at 20. There is no analysis for this distinction. 

H. The claimant meant what she said. 

The claimant had been stopped by law enforcement, including being 

cited for driving under the influence. CR 146. She did not think she should 

3 In the superior court's words, one of the claimant's Facebook friends 
could have gone to the newspaper with the quote and it could have been 
printed: "Employee -you know, security guard advocates murder of 
police officers," that she "not only condones it, she's advocating it," to 
"Go out and kill cops." VRP 20-21. The department argues that she would 
still get benefits. VRP 21. Following the Opinion also compels the award 
of benefits of an employee fired for advocating the murder of her client's 
guests by denying any work-related connection. 
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have been stopped. CR 146. She testified, "I am continually harassed by 

police officers all the time." CR 144. 

When asked if she meant to communicate that people would stop 

shooting police if the police would stop acting improperly, the claimant 

testified, "[Inaudible] if they would keep (sic) harassing people for no 

reason, they would probably not get shot at so much." CR 147. She agreed 

that the phrase, "Karma is a bitch," was a point of emphasis. CR 14 7-48. 

The claimant was confronted by her supervisor. CR 306-07 (FOF 6-7). 

The claimant admitted making the statement, id., and already knew who 

forwarded the comment. CR 148, 246. The employer reminded her that 

company work rules require professionalism and courtesy, and that her job 

required a good working relationship with law enforcement. CR 308. "She 

showed no remorse for her actions and was extremely defensive of her 

right to post and say what she wanted." CR 235. 

Rather than expressing regret or remorse, rather than expressing that 

she did not intend to harm her employer or offend the client, CR 158, the 

claimant was unapologetic. CR 306 (FOF 6). She was asked by her own 

supervisor if she knew that her supervisor, the CEO, and the owner of the 

company were all former police officers. CR 246. She responded that she 

could not be fired for her opinions. !d. She testified, "I said, 'I have the 

right to say whatever I want."' CR 149; see also CR 157 (claimant insisted 

on right to free speech), 158 (no assurances it would not happen again). 

The claimant was terminated. She applied for and received unemployment 

benefits. 

Page 8 



I. The claimant intended her client to receive the post. 

Despite knowing the claimant's Facebook friend worked at TPU, the 

agency decided and the Opinion affirmed that the claimant did not intend 

her client or her employer should ever learn of the post. See e.g., Opinion 

11-12. But, the friend who worked at TPU did tell someone. 

The TPU friend was offended by the claimant's post. He disagreed 

with her in a comment thread. Opinion at 9 (see also Comm. Record 306 

(Finding of Fact 5), 154 (testimony). He did not tell the claimant that he 

was going to tell anyone else about it. This friend's "undisclosed intent" to 

forward the post was material to the decision. See Opinion at 9-10. Yet, 

his comment seems to have already republished the claimant's post and 

his comment to all of his own Face book friends. 

Because the client friend was so offended and disturbed by the 

claimant's post, he forwarded the text of it within his organization. The 

claimant knew who had relayed the comment when she was initially 

confronted by her supervisor. CR 148. Evidence ofthe client's reaction is 

substantial and uncontroverted. 

V. LEGALARGUMENT 

The Nelson test to decide off-duty misconduct should be revisited 

given changes in the law and the new context of off-duty social media. 

Review by the Supreme Court is appropriate, consistent with RAP 13 .4(b ), 

because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another 

published appellate decision and involves issues of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 
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A. The first element of Nelson is already part of proving misconduct. 

The Opinion holds that the employer failed to prove the first element 

of the Nelson test. The Supreme Court first articulated a test for off-duty 

disqualifying misconduct in 1982. Nelson v. Department of Employment 

Security, 98 Wn.2d 370, 374-75, 655 P.2d 242 (1982) (interpreting 

RCW 50.20.060). The Court held that off-duty conduct may disqualify 

one from unemployment benefits if employee's conduct ( 1) had some 

nexus with employee's work, (2) resulted in harm to employer's interest, 

(3)(a) was violative of some code of behavior contracted for between 

employer and employee, and (3)(b) done with intent or knowledge that 

employer's interest would suffer. ld. at 375. The misconduct statute has 

been amended since that time, and the amendments make it easier to 

establish misconduct.4 

The misconduct statute does not distinguish on-duty from off-duty; all 

misconduct must be work-related. RCW 50.20.060(1) (disqualifying an 

individual discharged "for misconduct connected with his or her work"). 

4 At the time the Nelson was decided, the term "misconduct" was 
developed through case law and more limited. See e.g. Nelson v. 
Employment Security Dep 't, 31 Wn. App. 621, 626 (1982) (citations 
omitted), rev'd on other grounds, 98 Wn.2d 370 (1982). A new definition 
of misconduct applies to this case. See RCW 50.04.294 (effective January 
4, 2004). 

Page 10 



The first prong of the Nelson test, that the misconduct has some 

connection with the employee's work, is built into the statute, so it is not 

an additional element to be proven if the misconduct is accomplished off

duty. The appellate decision held that the employer failed to establish this 

element under a distinct Nelson version of the test. Opinion at 11. It 

follows the Supreme Court in Nelson and is in error in that regard. 

B. The agency regulation informs the statutory interpretation. 

In 2003, twenty-one years after Nelson, the statute that the Nelson 

Court interpreted was amended. In response to the 2003 legislative 

changes, the department promulgated a new regulation: WAC 192-150-

200. The title of the new regulation refers to the same statutes interpreted 

by the Nelson Court and the new statute concerning misconduct. Nelson, 

98 Wn.2d at 375 (citing RCW 50.20.066); cf (General provisions

Misconduct and gross misconduct-RCW 50.04.294 and 50.20.066). 

The text of the new regulation echoes the statutory requirement that 

disqualifying misconduct must be work-related (in sub-section one) and 

goes on to define what conduct is work-related (in sub-section two). 

The regulation's definition of work-related states: "For purposes of 

this section, the action or behavior is connected with your work if it results 

in harm or creates the potential for harm to your employer's interests," 

and, "This harm may be tangible, such as damage to equipment or 

property, or intangible, such as damage to your employer's reputation or a 

negative impact on staff morale." WAC 192-150-200(2). This regulation 
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updates the law since Nelson, and combines the Nelson test's first (nexus) 

and second (harm to employer) elements. 

The appellate decision applies a double standard. Sometimes it applies 

the regulation only to on-duty conduct and holds it is irrelevant to off-duty 

conduct. Opinion 17 ("The mere establishment of' element two, which is 

"either harm or potential to harm is insufficient to satisfy" element one "of 

the Nelson test."). At other times, the appellate decision applies the 

regulation to off-duty conduct. Opinion at 13 (applying WAC 192-150-

200(2) to element two of the Nelson test). Nothing in the statute, the 

regulation, or the Nelson case supports this double standard. 

Because the statute that the Nelson Court interpreted to create the test 

requires both on and off-duty conduct to be work-related, because the 

statute has been amended and a new statute defines misconduct, and 

because the agency charged with the unemployment program, see RCW 

50.12.01 0, has promulgated a new regulation on this issue, the endurance 

of the Nelson test is an issue of public importance that this Court should 

review. 

C. Standard of Care for Face book 

1. When are Facebook posts work-related? 

The appellate Opinion determines that the Facebook post was not 

work-related, so the employer failed the first element of the Nelson test. 

The administrative agency previously decided an analogous case and 

further designated it as a precedential decision. In the analogous case, an 

employee's off-duty comments on Facebook about the employer were 
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held to be work-related and to violate expected standards. In re Jeremy 

Owens, Empl. Sec. Comm'r Dec.2d 989 (2012). The "claimant exhibited 

disregard of his employer's interests and violated standards of behavior 

the employer had the right to expect of him," and, "It defies logic that the 

claimant would not have realized the damage his comments could cause to 

the employer's reputation." !d. In that case, the conduct was found to be 

"clearly work-connected." !d. Although that employee did not use privacy 

settings, the claimant in the instant case made her post knowing her client 

was a Facebook friend who had access to the post. Furthermore, the client 

friend commented on the post and republished it. 

In a second analogous case, a sister state with a similar misconduct 

statute analyzed Facebook posts. In that case, a nurse employed by a 

hospital posted an offensive writing on her Facebook wall which was only 

viewable by her Facebook friends. Guevarra v. Seton Medical Cntr, et al; 

2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 169849, 371.E.R. Cas. (BNA) 698 (ND CA 

December 2, 2013). Her Facebook friends included a co-worker who then 

reported the posting to the claimant's supervisor. The claimant was 

terminated and subsequently denied benefits. Other states, which are cited 

later, are in accord that off duty statements can be misconduct. 

A sister state and our own state's agency have analyzed off-duty 

Facebook posts, yet the appellate decision refused to draw either an 

analogy or a distinction. This Court should consider whether the agency's 

decision to the contrary has been distinguished or was in error. 
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2. When is offense to be expected by a Facebook post? 

Element three of the Nelson test concerns the claimant's knowledge 

that the employer's interests will suffer. The more unique and outrageous 

a statement, the more likely it is to be reposted or republished. This 

claimant said that some of the people she is paid to guard deserve to be 

murdered. Even ifthe claimant's Facebook friend knows her employer 

and the client she serves, even if her Facebook profile lists her employer 

and worksite, even if other posts establish this context, those facts are 

apparently immaterial if the particular Facebook post does not mention her 

employer, her job, or her customer. See Opinion at 20. This friend's 

"undisclosed intent" to forward the post was material to the Opinion. See 

Opinion at 9-10. The claimant, apparently, did not intend her client or her 

employer to ever learn of the post. See e.g., Opinion 11-12. But, the friend 

did tell someone. He forwarded the text of the post within the client's 

organization. The Opinion did not mention it, but the claimant knew who

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