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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Rule of Appellate Procedure (RAP) 13.4(b) governs this Court's 

acceptance of review of a Court of Appeals decision. Puget Sound 

Security is incorrect that the decision of the Court of Appeals involves 

issues· of substantial public interest and conflicts with another appellate 

decision. The decision correctly applies Nelson, which :the Court does not 

need tq revisit because the post-2003 statutory definition of "misconduct" 

and the Department's regulation explaining work-connectedness are 

consistent with Nelson. The decision also does not conflict with other 

appellate decisions. In raising several policy issues, Puget Sound Security 

asks the Court to reweigh evidence or consider facts that are not in the 

record. But the employer's failure to meet its burden of proof to establish 

work-connected misconduct does not raise an issue of substantial public 

interest that needs to be determined by this Court. The Court should deny 

review. 
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A. The Petition Does Not Raise any Issues of Public Interest 
Requiring Review by the Court 

Under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ), the Court will accept a petition for review 

if the petition "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should 

be determined by the Supreme Court." The Petition does not involve an 

issue of substantial public interest because: 1) the 2003 amendment to the 

statutory definition of misconduct and the Department's regulation 

explaining work-connectedness are consistent with Nelson; 2) the Court of 

Appeals properly applied the Nelson test to the facts, and the employer's 

failure to establish otherwise is not a matter of public interest; 3) the scope 

of judicial review is limited to the record, which precludes engaging in the 

speculation Puget Sound Security invites, and; 4) generic licensing 

standards cannot and do not replace the statutory requirement that work-

connected misconduct be proved. 

1. Nelson v. Department of Employment Security is still 
good law. 

A discharged worker is eligible for unemployment benefits under 

the Employment Security Act unless she was discharged for "misconduct 

connected with his or her work." RCW 50.20.066(1); Tapper v. Emp't 

Sec. Dep 't, 122 Wn.2d 397, 399, 858 P.2d 494 (1993). The burden is on 

the employer to establish the claimant was discharged for misconduct. 

Nelson, 98 Wn.2d at 374-75. 
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To establish disqualifying misconduct, an employer must first 

prove that the employee's conduct was connected with his or her work. 

See RCW 50.20.066(1); WAC 192-150-200(1). Conduct that occurs while 

an employee is on the job is clearly connected with his or her work; when 

the conduct in question occurs off the job, however, the connection is less 

clear. Accordingly, this Court adopted a three-part rule for determining 

when an employee's off-duty conduct is work-connected. Nelson, 98 

Wn.2d at 375. For off-duty conduct to be work-connected, an employer 

must show that a reasonable person would find the employee's conduct: 

(1) had some nexus with the employee's work; (2) resulted in some harm 

to the employer's interest; and (3) was in fact conduct which was (a) 

violative of some code of behavior contracted for between employer and 

employee, and (b) done with intent or knowledge that the employer's 

interest would suffer. /d. at 375. The Court should decline the Petition's 

invitation to revisit the Nelson test for misconduct when the conduct 

occurs off-duty because the test is still good law. 

In 2003, the legislature amended the definition of misconduct by 

adding a new section, RCW 50.04.294, that more specifically explains 

when a claimant's discharge-precipitating conduct amounts to misconduct. 

However, the amended definition did not change the requirement that 

misconduct be connected with the claimant's work. The misconduct 
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disqualification statute that existed at the time of Nelson, RCW 50.20.060, 

and the one that exists now, RCW 50.20.066(1), both impose that 

requirement. RCW 50.04.294 simply provides a non-exclusive list of 

when an employee's work-connected conduct amounts to misconduct. 

Therefore, Nelson is still good law because it addresses when conduct is 

work-connected, which the statute required both before and after the 

amendment that Puget Sound Security alleges calls into question the test's 

validity. 

Nelson also does not need to be revisited in light of modem 

technology, Pet. at 1, because it applies generally to the entire range of 

off-duty conduct. A separate rule for the technology context is 

unwarranted and would create confusion for employers and employees as 

to how to assess whether conduct is work-connected, in part because there 

could be disagreement about which test to apply. Besides, Puget Sound 

Security does not identify or propose any particular test in place of Nelson. 

The Department's rule explaining when misconduct is work

connected is also consistent with Nelson. See WAC 192-150-200(1 ), (2). 

The rule states that to constitute misconduct, the discharge precipitating 

conduct "must be connected with your work," WAC 192-150-200(1 ), and 

clarifies that conduct is work-connected "if it results in harm or creates the 

potential for harm to your employer's interests. This harm may be 
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tangible ... or intangible .... " WAC 192-150-200(2). The Court of 

Appeals properly rejected Puget Sound Security's argument that the 

Department's regulation "updates the law since Nelson," Pet. at 12, or · 

does away with the first and third Nelson elements. Slip. op. at 16. As the 

court explained, the mere establishment of harm only satisfies the second 

Nelson element; it is insufficient to establish the other two elements. ld. at 

1 7. The regulation merely explains that the employer may show either 

actual or potential, tangible or intangible harm to establish the second 

element. WAC 192-150-200(2). "Any other reading conflicts with 

Nelson, which remains the law of this state." Slip op. at 17. 

2. The Court of Appeals properly applied the Nelson test 
to the facts of this case, and the employer's failure to 
satisfy its burden of proof does not raise an issue of 
public interest. 

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the Nelson standard to 

Black's off-duty conduct and concluded that Puget Sound Security failed 

to establish elements (1) and (3). Slip op. at 5-12. The Commissioner 

made factual findings, supported by the record,that Black made the 

Facebook post while at home and not while on duty, and the post made no 

reference to her job, her position as a security officer, Puget Sound 

Security, or Puget Sound Security's client. AR 133, 233, 235, 306 (FF 3, 

5), 308 (CL 10); slip op. at 8-9, 11. Black made the statement on her 

11 



private Face book page, to which only approximately 100 people 

designated as "friends" had access. AR at 130-31, 235, 306 (FF 4); slip 

op. at 9, 11. Contrary to the Petition's suggestion, the employer failed to 

even show that Black's profile listed her employer or profession. Pet. at 

14. The content of the post, while certainly offensive, was an expression 

of Black's personal opinion about a matter that was outside the scope of 

her work. AR at 306 (FF 5); slip op. at 9-10. Puget Sound Security 

suggests that Black intended her client to receive the post, Pet. at 9, but 

that suggestion is really an invitation to reweigh the evidence. The 

Commissioner found otherwise, and that finding is supported by 

substantial evidence. AR at 306 (FF 5); slip op. at 16. Puget Sound 

Security failed to show that the first Nelson element was met-that the 

conduct had some nexus with Black's work. 

Next, Puget Sound Security failed to establish that Black's conduct 

was "violative of some code of behavior contracted for between employer 

and employee." Nelson, 98 Wn.2d at 375; slip. op. at 11. To prove this 

element, an employer must show the conduct was the subject of a 

contractual agreement or of "reasonable rules and regulations of the 

employer of which the employee has knowledge and is expected to 

follow." Nelson, 98 Wn.2d at 375. While Puget Sound Security had 

general workplace rules requiring professionalism, courtesy, and respect, 
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it- did not have any company policies dealing with posts on Facebook or 

other social media sites or attempting to specifically regulate off-duty 

speech. AR at 65-{)6, 89-90, 105, 130, 307--08 (FF 8-11); slip op. at 14. 

Puget Sound Security did not show that it met the requirement of Nelson 

that Black violated a reasonable code of behavior explicitly contracted for. 

Nelson, 98 Wn.2d at 374. 

Puget Sound Security also failed to show that Black's conduct 

"was in fact ... done with intent or knowledge that the employer's interest 

would suffer." Nelson, 98 Wn.2d at 375; slip op. at 9-12. Although the 

Petition repeatedly states that Black "intended [for] her client to receive 

the post," Pet. at 9, 16, the Commissioner found that Black "did not intend 

to communicate her opinion to her employer, to [TPU], or to anyone not 

on her list of friends." AR at 306 (FF 5). Black's own testimony supports 

this finding. AR at 130-31, 133, 156; slip op. at 9-10. Puget Sound 

Security cannot reargue the facts on appeal. In sum, Puget Sound Security 

failed to establish the first and third required Nelson elements. Slip op. at 

12. Its failure to prove its case does not raise an issue of substantial public 

interest requiring review by this Court. 
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3. The Court should not speculate as to when rules 
governing off-duty conduct or social media posts are 
reasonable because this employer did not have such 
rules. 

Puget Sound Security asks the Court to address hypothetical 

scenarios that, if review were granted, the Court could not reach because 

the record does not support such inquiry. It asks, "When can employers 

regulate Facebook posts?" Pet. at 16. It also asks, "When, if ever, can an 

employer demonstrate that its work rules or expectations as to off-duty 

misconduct are reasonable and work-related ... ?" Pet. at 1. But, as 

discussed above, Puget Sound Security did not have a social media policy 

or any policy that could reasonably be understood to apply to its 

employees' private, off-duty conduct. Slip op. at 14. Rather, Puget Sound 

Security had broad and general policies requiring employees to be 

courteous, professional, helpful, and to act ethically. See AR at 208-18, 

307-08 (FF 9-11); slip. op. at 3, 11, 14. And it failed to explain how this 

"extend[ed] to off-duty, off-site, social medial posts." Slip op. at 14. 

Puget Sound Security argues that the Court of Appeals' opinion 

"holds that the employer may regulate off-duty conduct on Facebook only 

if it has a policy referring specifically to 'Face book,' or 'social media."' 

Pet. at 16. It further suggests the opinion "effectively holds that an 

employer is unable in this circumstance to prohibit damage done by an 
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employee through social media, even if it issues a social media policy." 

!d. at 17. Puget Sound Security is mistaken in both arguments. The Court 

of Appeals' opinion addresses only the application of the misconduct 

disqualification in the Employment Security Act, not a blanket principle 

for the reasonability of an employer's rules or other employment 

decisions. And the opinion merely holds that under the facts of this 

case-where the employer did not have a social media policy, and the 

Facebook post did not refer to the claimant's employer, coworkers, job 

duties, or clients-the comments had no nexus with Black's work, there 

was no code of behavior specifically contracted for, and there was no 

intent or knowledge that the employer's interest would suffer. Slip op. at 

11-12. Nothing in the opinion precludes an employer from discharging an 

employee under these circumstances. It merely confirms that the 

Department may not subsequently deny a claimant unemployment benefits 

for her off-duty speech that bears no nexus to her employment. ("[T]he 

question before this court is not whether Black should have been 

terminated from her job. Rather, the question is whether the 

Commissioner properly concluded that Black was eligible to receive 

unemployment compensation benefits under the Employment Security 

Act." Slip op. at 8.) Given these facts, this case does not offer the Court 

the opportunity to make broad pronouncements on when an employer's 
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rules governing off-duty conduct in general, or social media postings in 

particular, are reasonable. The Court should decline to entertain Puget 

Sound Security's hypothetical assertions. 

Finally, Puget Sound Security erroneously suggests that the Court 

of Appeals' decision will be cited to "compel" the award of benefits in 

various scenarios that are not analogous to the facts of this case. Pet. at 

19-20. In all of the scenarios listed, the employees specifically made 

either derogatory comments about his or her coworker or manager or,. in 

two situations, made threats to a supervisor or patient. ld These facts are 

not present in this case, and Puget Sound Security's fears are unfounded. 

The Court should deny review. 

4. General security guard licensing standards do not 
establish work-connectedness. 

Below and in its Petition, Puget Sound Security made vague 

arguments about the relationship that professional licensing standards have 

with the misconduct inquiry. See slip. op. at 19; Pet. at 1, 19. 

Specifically, the employer cited RCW 18.170.170 and RCW 

18.235.130(4), which provide examples of unprofessional conduct. Slip 

op. at 19. The particular subsection it cited, RCW 18.235.130(4), states 

that "[i]ncompetence, negligence, or malpractice that results in harm or 
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damage to another or that creates an unreasonable risk of harm or damage 

to another" constitutes unprofessional conduct.3 Slip op. at 19. 

The Court of Appeals correctly stated that these standards are not 

helpful. Unless the licensing agency has actually found the conduct in 

question to have violated those professional standards, such general 

standards themselves provide no guidance as to whether the conduct in 

question was connected with the employee's work. Here, if the record 

showed that Black was actually licensed as a security guard and, if 

licensed, that the licensing agency found her to have violated its licensing 

statutes, then the conclusion that her conduct was not work-connected 

might have been different. But those facts are not in this record. Even 

then, misconduct for carelessness or negligence under 

RCW 50.04.294(1)(c) and (d) requires showing actual or a likelihood of 

causing "serious bodily harm to the employer or a fellow employee" or 

conduct "of such degree or recurrence to show an intentional or substantial 

disregard of the employer's interest." Professional licensing standards for 

negligence may not necessarily bear on these elements. The Court should 

decline to entertain Puget Sound Security's strained argument regarding 

general professional licensing standards. 

3 Puget Sound Security also cites WAC 308-18-305(l)(e)(iii), which requires 
training for licensed security guards to include certain "principles of communications" 
topics, including building relationships with law enforcement. Pet. at 2. 
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B. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Consistent with a 
Washington Appellate Decision 

Puget Sound Security incorrectly argues that the Court of Appeals' 

decision is in conflict with Hamel v. Employment Security Department, 93 

Wn. App. 140, 966 P.2d 1282 (1998); a precedential Commissioner's 

decision, In re Jeremy Owens, No. 04-2012-19366, Wash. Dep't ofEmp't 

Sec. Dec.2d 989 (Dec. 28, 2012)4
; and an unreported federal district court 

decision, Guevarra v. Seton Medical Center, No. C 13-2267 CW, 2013 

WL 6235352 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 2, 2013). 

First, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Hamel 

because that case involved a waiter's inappropriate comments made to his 

coworkers and customers while at work. Hamel, 93 Wn. App. at 142-43, 

147-48. The comments in this case, unlike in Hamel, occurred off-duty 

and did not involve the speaker's employer, coworkers, or clients. The 

Hamel court appropriately did not apply the Nelson off-duty test, so there 

is no conflict. Second, conflict with a precedential Commissioner's 

decision or an unreported federal case is not grounds for review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(l) or (2), as these decisions are not decisions of Washington 

4 Under RCW 50.32.095, the Commissioner may designate certain 
Commissioner's decisions as precedent, which serve as persuasive authority for courts. 
Martini v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 98 Wn. App. 791, 795,990 P.2d 981 (2000). A copy of the 
cited Commissioner's decision is attached for the Court's convenience. 
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appellate courts. In any event, the Court of Appeals' decision is not 

inconsistent with either In re Owens or Guevarra. 

In In re Owens, the Department found an employee's public 

Facebook post was connected with his work when the employee expressly 

disparaged his employer, boss, and coworkers in the post. In re Owens, 

Wash. Dep't of Emp't Sec. Dec.2d 989. Here, in contrast, Black's post 

was not public and did not reference her employer. AR at 130-32, 233,

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